Baseline report for the Brighton and Hove Voluntary Sector Mental Health Strategy: Findings from a Consultation and Delphi Survey

By Hazel Platzer Health and Social Policy Research Centre University of Brighton March 2006

Further information available from the **Brighton and Hove Community and Voluntary Sector Forum:** Community Base, 113 Queen's Road, Brighton, BN1 3XG E-mail: <u>Duncan@cvsectorforum.org.uk</u> Tel: 01273-234000

Charlie Turner Care Co-ops Mental health Network Co-coordinator for CVSF

Foreword

The Mental Health Voluntary Sector Network within the Community Sector Forum has been able to develop a greater sense of itself during this last year. The network comprises of a number of disparate organisations and groups who all engage with the network at different levels.

As a network, a key achievement has been working with the Community University Partnership Programme to gather information for a baseline report. This details what the Network's members feel are their aspirations, aims and goals for producing a Voluntary Sector Mental Health Development Strategy. This piece of work is significant because of the huge change in the way services are going to be offered to the public and communities. In the past the voluntary sector has trailed in the wake of statutory sector initiatives but the report will give the voluntary sector a clear mandate from itself and service users to develop initiatives and social enterprise; paradoxically it will make us more effective fundraisers with funders offered a level of reassurance that the sector is responsible and efficient, does not duplicate services, and is not competing with the statutory sector.

We now have really good information, which includes information from carers and service users, about the collective priorities of network members. It gives confidence to the network as well as to funders that the process has been robust and the emerging data is of a good pedigree with a strong provenance.

The support from the Community University Partnership Project has enabled this work to be taken forward and has been critical in achieving ongoing continuity, with a representative approach being used as well as the effective communication and facilitation of workshops. The academic authority that the work has achieved by having the support of a professional researcher supporting the process and producing the report has provided a stronger platform for this work to be developed further. The work that has been facilitated by CUPP has brought about a sense of cohesion within the network and we have developed a stronger understanding of the collective purpose as organisations and groups and a greater understanding of the potential we have for development in the future.

Contents

1. Summary

2. Aims and Purpose

3. Methods used and participation in the project

- 3.1 Background
- 3.2 Participants in the first stage of the research
- 3.3 Participants in the Delphi Survey

Table 1: Community and voluntary sector participation inthe Delphi Survey

3.4 Summary of the methods and participation

4. Findings

Table 2: Results of the Delphi Survey Round Two - inorder of Mean Score

- 4.1 Needs and gaps in services
- 4.2 Benefits of existing voluntary sector provision
- 4.3 Representation and Involvement

4.4 Future ways of working and capacity building within the sector

5. Discussion

6. References

Appendix 1 Delphi Survey Round One

Appendix 2 Delphi Survey Round Two

1. Summary

The mental health network, supported by the Brighton and Hove Community and Voluntary Sector Forum (CVSF), undertook a piece of work in partnership with the University of Brighton (funded by the Community University Partnership Project – CUPP) to develop a mental health strategy for the community and voluntary sector. Between January 2006 and March 2006, a working group formed from the mental health network worked with a researcher from the university to facilitate a dialogue about shared values and vision within the sector. All members of the CVSF mental health network were invited to participate as well as other stakeholders identified by the working group. Voluntary sector workers, volunteers, service users and carers were included as well as some statutory sector workers who were members of the network. Both qualitative and quantitative approaches were used allowing a range of views to be expressed; a combination of rapid appraisal techniques and a Delphi survey were used.

At the first stage, the opinions of all the stakeholders were gathered using qualitative approaches, these were then fed back to all members allowing them to see each other's opinions and indicate their levels of agreement with each other. This allowed a larger number of people to contribute to ideas about a shared strategy than can usually be achieved through standard consultation processes, and it facilitated the communication of ideas to each other. This approach of structured feedback allows consensus to be developed and it allows a measurement of such consensus and agreement.

In total 68 people participated in the work and 22 different local organisations or projects were involved. A strong level of agreement and consensus was found between those participating. There was strong agreement and consensus about the needs of local people in relation to mental health service provision; gaps in services were identified and the needs of specific groups of people or communities were identified.

There was also strong agreement and consensus about ways that voluntary sector organizations can work together to provide services, and ways of working together and developmental work that would help to build capacity. In particular, voluntary sector organisations showed an interest in learning more about social enterprises and finding ways of working in partnership or building consortia with each other.

2. Aims and Purpose

This piece of work was carried out in partnership between the Mental Health Network (supported by the Brighton and Hove Community and Voluntary Sector Forum) and the University of Brighton; it was funded by CUPP (Community University Partnership Project). The Mental health Network formed a Working Group to steer the project and work with a university researcher over a period of three months. The aim of the project was to work towards the development of a mental health strategy for the Community and Voluntary Sector projects with an interest in mental health in Brighton and Hove. The project needed to capture the shared values and good practice within the sector in order to build on this good practice; it also needed to develop a consensus about how the sector could work together to build capacity and sustainability. Such a consensus would help to identify any development work which needed to be done to help the sector become more proactive around competing for funds, tendering to provide services and sharing resources. A major driver behind this was the need to be able to respond to the Change Up initiative for voluntary sector infrastructure support; this emerged from the Government's cross cutting review of voluntary sector services in 2002. An approach was needed which would enable the sector to clearly state its strengths and identify developmental needs; it was also important to involve as many community and voluntary sector organisations, and other stakeholders, as possible in order to confidently establish a consensus of opinion and agreement about how to take developments forward. A combination of rapid appraisal and consensus methods were used in order to achieve this.

3. Methods used and participation in the project

3.1 Background

The development of a mental health strategy for the community and voluntary sector required a participatory approach which would allow all the major stakeholders to express their opinions and work towards some sort of agreement. In order to do this a combination of rapid appraisal techniques and a modified Delphi technique was used. Rapid appraisal techniques are used "for the swift assessment of local views and perceptions of problems and needs" (Bowling, 2002, p. 414); it is a qualitative approach based on a combination of interviews with key people and group meetings. This approach can be used to establish the foundations for an "ongoing relationship between service purchasers, providers and the public" (Pickin and St Leger 1993, p. 414 cited in Bowling, 2002) and there is an interest in the approach because of NHS ME 1991 statement that "purchasers of health care will need to discover and respond to the views of local people about the pattern and delivery of services" (Bowling, 2002). Rapid appraisal was appropriate because of the time scale of the project which was a 3 month period prior to a local re-organisation of the health service

trusts; the network were keen to be in a position to clearly state their collective views and vision to coincide with this re-structuring in order to be able to negotiate contracts and influence the pattern of service delivery.

The Delphi technique is a consensus method and it is an economical way of contacting large numbers of people:

"Consensus methods are increasingly being used to establish the extent of consensus, and in some cases to develop it, in areas of uncertainty in clinical medicine and health policy, where there is a lack of definitive evidence about the effectiveness and appropriateness of health care interventions" (Bowling, 2002, p. 406)

The Delphi technique is an appropriate method to use where the opinions of a large group of "experts" are needed with a move towards agreement; the method was originally developed by the RAND corporation to forecast technological developments (Linstone and Turoff, 2002) and more recently has been used extensively in health related research. The method is designed to transform opinion into group consensus (Hasson et al., 2000); it works through surveying the opinions of a group of experts, feeding back those opinions to the whole group in further stages and asking participants to give their opinions again in the light of the responses from the rest of the group. The semi-anonymity of the group (i.e. participants know who is in the group but cannot identify individual responses in the feedback) encourages participation (Keeney et al., 2006), and it encourages debate (Powell, 2003). Furthermore it provides a threat-free environment where each member of the expert panel has a chance to express their opinion without the effects often seen in face-to-face groups or meetings where dominant individuals control the outcome; it also reduces the effects of the group following the leader or getting side-tracked (Linstone and Turoff, 2002). It does not however remove uncertainty about the future and may be more of a structured "brainstorming" than an exercise in prediction (White, 1991). The feedback between rounds can widen knowledge, stimulate new ideas and be motivating in and of itself and tends to produce a convergence of opinion or consensus (Powell, 2003). It is a prospective method that allows the latest and best thinking to inform policy and strategic developments and helps policy makers to anticipate the implications of proposed changes (Patton, 2002). It can also encourage debate amongst those participating about their values (Proctor, 1995). This technique moves large groups of people towards consensus through participation and feedback. The method has been found to increase participatory commitment and helps to identify the groups information needs and helps them to set priorities (Oranga and Nordberg, 1996). The advantages of the method are that it allows a large group of experts to be consulted without having face-to-face meetings and the effects of powerful or dominant individuals in groups are reduced (Powell, 2003). It also allows people to change their ideas, and consider new ideas, in the light of feedback from the responses of others and therefore

promotes ownership of shared ideas and produces consensus (Hasson et al., 2000).

The method therefore has a number of stages or "rounds" where feedback is given until consensus is reached. The first round of the survey is usually informed by the opinions of a group of stakeholders obtained through interviews and focus groups; this qualitative component allows the identification of a wide range of views (Keeney et al., 2006). This first stage used rapid appraisal techniques and involved consulting with key stakeholders through the establishment and involvement of a working group (a sub-set of the mental health network), focus groups with service users and interviews with local commissioners and user-involvement officers in the Primary Care Trust. A desk review of previous mapping and consultation exercises alongside national and local strategic developments also informed the first round. This first stage of rapid appraisal was used to design round one of the Delphi survey which consisted of open-ended guestions to generate gualitative data on people's opinions (see appendix one for a copy of the round one survey). The round one survey was sent to all members of the mental health network. The responses from the round one survey, and any additional information from the focus groups and interviews, were used to design the round two Delphi survey which captured all the opinions which had so far been expressed (see Appendix 2). This was a quantitative survey with 139 items under four headings -participants were asked to indicate their agreement or disagreement with each item on a five point Likert scale. Statistical analysis of the second round responses through the calculation of means and standard deviations allowed a measure of the degree of agreement about items and the degree of consensus within the group.

3.2 Participants in the first stage of the research

Two focus groups were held with service users to gather qualitative data to inform the design of the first round of the Delphi survey; one group was held at East Brighton Community Mental Health centre; it was advertised within the statutory mental health services and invitations were sent to Mind in Brighton and Hove's user-consultants. Three people attended this focus group and it was cofacilitated by Mind's user involvement officer. Another group was held with service users at Preston Park day Centre and it was attended by 11 people and it was co-facilitated by staff at Preston Park Day Centre. Most of the participants expressed an interest in the later stages of the Delphi survey and they participated in the second round. User-consultants who had been unable to attend the focus group were invited to take part in an interview and one person took this up. In total 15 service users were involved in the early stages of the research which informed the design of the first round of the Delphi survey.

The design of the Delphi survey was also informed by discussions with the working group and interviews with three members of the working group. Interviews were also held with the mental health commissioner of the Primary Care Trust and two people who were centrally involved in the Brighton and Hove Change Up Consortium local infrastructure development plan (Brighton and Hove Change Up Consortium, December 2005) (the Community Participation Manager of the Primary Care Trust and the co-ordinator of the Brighton and Hove Community and Voluntary Sector Forum). Other recent exercises or surveys also informed this stage of the project. An earlier exercise had taken place within the mental health network at CVSF quarterly conference in March 2005. At this meeting 16 members of the network participated in a workshop were they identified the key aims, purpose and components of a community and voluntary sector mental health strategy (Community and Voluntary Sector Forum). Of these 16 members of the network, 10 were involved in later stages of the work developing a mental health strategy. Another relevant piece of work was a questionnaire sent to all the carers on the database at the Carers Centre asking about their experiences of Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Team (Carers Centre, 2005). Both these pieces of work contributed to the design of the Delphi Survey.

3.3 Participants in the Delphi Survey

The first round of the Delphi survey (see Appendix one) was a serious of openended questions divided into six sections:

- 1. Details about the participant
- 2. Needs and gaps in services
- 3. Models of providing support
- 4. Representation and involvement
- 5. Capacity building and infrastructure support
- 6. Further comments

The second round consisted of 139 items, divided into the same six sections, which were derived from the first round, interviews, focus groups and previous consultations (see Appendix 2). This enabled each participant to see the opinions of others and rank their agreement with each item on a 5 point Likert scale. There was an opportunity for open comments at the end of each section.

The first round of the Delphi survey was sent out to all the members of the Mental Health Network – the CVSF hold this list and the majority of members have e-mail addresses and the survey was sent electronically to them. Those without e-mail addresses were invited to participate through an initial telephone call and were sent the survey by post with an SAE for its return. The exact number of members on the list is unclear as it is difficult to keep it updated regularly – however new members often join the network through participation in the quarterly CVSF conferences. A quarterly conference coincided with the

second round of the survey and people were invited to join the second round even if they had not participated in the first round, This is a major modification to the Delphi technique but the working group chose to follow this course for the sake of inclusivity and increasing participation. The participants in each round of the survey are shown in Table 1 and it can be seen which organisations participated in both rounds. It was agreed by the working group that the network and the participants who responded were representative of the sector including larger and smaller community and voluntary sector organizations and within that communities of interest and some neighbourhood based groups.

	Completed Round One	Completed Round Two
Age Concern		\checkmark
Allsorts LGBT Youth Project		
Alzheimer's Society	\checkmark	
Ashley Homes		\checkmark
Black and Minority Ethnic Community		\checkmark
Partnership		
Brighton and Hove Black Women's Group		
Brighton and Hove Unwaged Advice and Rights		\checkmark
Centre		
Brighton Housing Trust	√	
Brighton Lesbian and Gay Switchboard	\checkmark	\checkmark
Counselling Project		
Care Co-ops Life Opportunities Service	√	
Carers Centre	√(4)	√ (2)
Citizens Commission on Human Rights		\checkmark
Consumer Consultancy		
Epilepsy Action (Brighton and Hove Branch)		
Friends First		
Hove YMCA	√	√ (2)
Mind in Brighton and Hove	√ (2)	√ (2)
MindOut LGBT mental health project	√	
Money Advice and Community Support		\checkmark
Patient Advice and Liaison Service		√ (2)
Relate	√	
Rethink	√	
Richmond Fellowship (Limited Editions)	√(7)	
Rough Sleepers Unit		
Service users who had attended focus groups		√ (12)
Southdowns Housing Association (Preston Park Day Centre)	√ (5)	√ (2)

Table 1: Community and voluntary sector participation in the Delphi Survey

Spectrum LGBT community forum		\checkmark
Sussex Interpreting Services		
The Light Centre		\checkmark
Threshold women's mental health project		
Workability		√(2)
Total number of participants in each round	36	39
Total number of voluntary sector	22	22
projects/organizations in each round		

 $\sqrt{100}$ indicates participation in the round – numbers in brackets indicate where more than one person completed the survey together. The total number of participants indicate the minimum number as some participants discussed their responses with a group but did not always indicate this on their return.

3.4 Summary of the methods and participation

The project was conducted in three stages; the first stage gathered qualitative data through interviews and focus groups with working group members and service users, from the workshop held at a CVSF quarterly conference and the questionnaire sent to carers by the Carers Centre; the second stage was the first round of the Delphi survey sent to all members of the Mental Health Network. This gathered qualitative data; the third and final stage was the second round of the Delphi survey. This was completed by people attending the mental health network meeting at the CVSF quarterly conference and was sent to all members of the Mental Health Network. It was also sent to some of the service users who had participated in earlier stages of the research. The second round of the Delphi survey was quantitative and statistical analysis of the data allowed a measure of the degree of agreement and consensus between participants.

In total 22 different local organisations or projects were involved, and 68 people participated. Of these, 18 were service users, four were volunteers, two were carers, 40 were voluntary sector paid workers, one was a student on placement and three were statutory sector service workers. With the Delphi survey, 13 organisations or projects and 28 people completed both the first and second round of the survey.

4. Findings

The interviews and focus groups with service users, and round one of the Delphi survey generated 139n items which participants were asked to indicate their agreement or disagreement with in round 2 of the Delphi survey (see Appendix 2). The round two results were analysed to see how much agreement and consensus there was. The Likert scale was scored from 1-5 with one indicating strong disagreement and 5 indicating strong agreement with an item:

1	2	3	4	5
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree

Average or mean scores were then calculated for each item – a mean score of 4 or greater indicated overall agreement within the panel on a particular item. A score between 3 and 4 indicated that the panel were between neutral and in agreement. All the mean scores for all 139 items were greater than 3 indicating agreement or neutrality (i.e. none of the mean scores indicated disagreement within the panel about any of each other's opinions). 2/3rds of the items showed overall agreement and 1/3rd of the items indicated that the panel was between neutral and in agreement. The standard deviations for each item were also calculated – this measure shows how much variation there is within the panel and therefore indicated the level of consensus or shared opinion. A standard deviation of 1 or less indicates that the panel have a strong consensus i.e. most of them are close of the overall average score. A standard deviation of more than 1 indicates there is a wide range of opinion, and therefore a low consensus, within the panel. The means and standard deviations are shown in Table 2 in order of mean score within each section of the survey. It can be seen from this that only 120 out of 129 items had a standard deviation less than 1 (94%). This means that the panel agreed with each other and had a very high level of consensus amongst them.

Table 2: Results of the Delphi Survey Round Two - in order of Mean Score

Key to	scores:
--------	---------

- 1 =Strongly disagree
- 2 = Disagree
- 3 = Neutral
- 4 = Agree
- 5 = Strongly agree

Statement generated from Round 1 of Survey	Total number of responses	Mean score	Standard Deviation
Section 2: Needs and gaps in services			
17. There is a need for shorter waiting times to access talking treatments/counselling	32	4.7	0.63
45. Greater awareness about mental health would enable earlier preventative work to take place	32	4.6	0.55
49. The police station is not a suitable place of safety	30	4.6	0.81

1. There is an unmet need for out of hours crisis support in the evenings and at weekends where face-to-face support is available	31	4.5	0.72
2. There is a need for more telephone support out of hours	32	4.5	0.89
3. There is a need for halfway houses for people who do not need to go into hospital but are too unwell to stay at home	32	4.5	0.67
16. There is a need for more preventative services which offer low level support	32	4.5	0.72
30. Education providers need to be made more aware about the support needs of people with mental health problems	31	4.5	0.85
43. The public need to be made more aware about mental health issues in general in order to reduce the stigma	31	4.5	0.62
11. There is a need for out of hours drop-in services	32	4.4	0.71
13. There is a need for day care 7 days a week	32	4.4	0.49
15. There is a need for support to help people to attend appointment and group activities (i.e. to be accompanied on their journeys)	32	4.4	0.55
29. Employers need to be made more aware about the support needs of people with mental health problems	32	4.4	0.76
31. There is a need for more accessible counselling of young people and their parents through schools and other community settings	29	4.4	0.68
32. There is a need for more preventative work in schools especially in relation to homophobic bullying	30	4.4	0.71
37. Carers need more information about mental health and treatments	30	4.4	0.57
46. There is a need for more support for families who are affected by mental health issues	32	4.4	0.56
54. Older people need opportunities for social interaction which promote mental health	30	4.4	0.62
56. There is a need for vulnerable groups to have a safe space where they can access an integrated service i.e. primary and community care services alongside self help and user led activities	30	4.4	0.56
8. There is a need for a "gate-keeping" service so that people can access immediate crisis support which would also help them to access mainstream services	32	4.3	0.64
9. Out of hours support should link voluntary and mainstream services	31	4.3	0.59
14. There is an unmet need for holidays, social and leisure activities for people with long term mental health needs	31	4.3	0.71
18. There is a lack of access to alternative therapies	32	4.3	0.77
21. There is a need for more community support workers	32	4.3	0.78
33. There is a need for more bilingual interpreters to work with people with mental health needs	30	4.3	0.68
40. Young carers need more support	31	4.3	0.65
	1	1	1

48. There are insufficient services for people with a diagnosis of personality disorder	30	4.3	0.69
55. There is a need for local services so that people do not have to travel when they are under stress	30	4.3	0.53
60. Men have specific needs which get neglected (e.g. survivors of sexual abuse)	31	4.3	0.64
5. There is a lack of crisis housing or community wards	30	4.2	0.72
6. There is a lack of supported housing	30	4.2	0.86
7. There are insufficient respite services	32	4.2	0.61
10. There is a need for more drop-in services including those for specific group (e.g. women only, LGBT)	31	4.2	0.93
22. There are not enough STR (Support, Time, Recovery) workers to promote recovery and help people lead ordinary lives	28	4.2	0.7
26. There is a need for learning and work advisors to help people get back into employment or training after a period of illness, and to offer ongoing support	31	4.2	0.59
28. There is a need for more support to help people keep their employment through a period of illness	31	4.2	0.73
38. Current advice and information services are over-subscribed to meet current demand	25	4.2	0.78
39. Carers need more support at the start of their role	30	4.2	0.64
44. There is a need to educate people about the myth that transgender people and mental illness always go together	31	4.2	0.75
52. There is a need for a one-stop shop where people can access information, advocacy and advice about benefits, legal issues and housing	32	4.2	0.54
59. There is a need for women only services	32	4.2	0.67
62. Statutory service providers need training to enable them to respond better to service users presenting in crisis	29	4.2	0.76
12. There is a need for day care where places are by referral as not all service users are able to access drop-in sessions	32	4.1	0.76
20. There is an unmet need for services where people will be listened to in mainstream services	31	4.1	0.88
24. Many people in need are unable to access support from Community Psychiatric Nurses	31	4.1	0.81
25. The criteria which enable people to be able to access support at home need to be lowered	31	4.1	0.74
42. Existing advocacy services are over-stretched	28	4.1	0.74
51. There is a need for more advice about welfare benefits	31	4.1	0.76
57. There is a need for statutory services to recognise that Brighton and Hove have a specific local need in relation to the mental health of	29	4.1	0.7

the LGBT community			
58. There is an ongoing need to provide specific community based services for LGBT communities	29	4.1	0.82
4. There are insufficient hospital beds when people need admission	30	4	0.81
19. There is a need for a specialised service for people who have experienced a trauma	29	4	0.62
34. There is a need for a communication strategy for all service providers that recognises the needs of refugees and asylum seekers	30	4	0.61
36. There are insufficient services for refugees with mental health needs	29	4	0.68
41. There is an unmet need for advocacy for carers	30	4	0.74
61. There is a need for specific community based support for Black and minority ethnic communities	28	4	0.84
27. There is a need for a specialist employment advisor at Millview Hospital	31	3.9	0.85
35. There is a need for language specific self help groups	28	3.9	0.74
53. There is a lack of services for younger people with dementia	30	3.8	0.71
23. There are not enough survivor managed services	29	3.7	0.79
50. There is an unmet need for specialist ambulances for people in crisis	29	3.6	1.01
Section 3: Models of providing support to service users and carers			I
95. There needs to be more collaboration between services based on the recovery model rather than the medical model	31	4.6	0.84
97. There needs to more alternatives to drug treatments as a first option from mainstream services	31	4.3	0.73
63. Self care needs to be promoted	29	4.2	0.67
72. Returning to work or entering paid employment is not a realistic target for all service users	32	4	0.75
84. Current models of support in the voluntary sector feel less punitive to service users than mainstream services	28	4	0.58
85. There is less of a sense of "them and us" in voluntary sector provision compared to mainstream provision	28	4	0.86
88. Current models of support in the voluntary sector work in a preventative way preventing relapse, promoting recovery, and reducing hospital admissions	29	4	0.77
92. There could be more user involvement within mental health projects within the voluntary sector	29	4	0.79
74. Current models of support in the voluntary sector offer opportunities for voluntary work which builds self esteem	32	3.9	0.67

75. Current models of support in the voluntary sector increase opportunities to socialise and build community	29	3.9	0.75
77. Voluntary sector mental health projects give service users a sense of structure and purpose	31	3.9	0.57
91. Current models of support in the voluntary sector encourage user involvement	26	3.9	0.57
96. More use of advance directives should be made	27	3.9	0.78
66. Current models of support in the voluntary sector build the confidence of people with mental health needs	29	3.8	0.97
69. Current models of support in the voluntary sector improve the well being of people who use the services	29	3.8	0.85
70. Current models of support in the voluntary sector are empowering for service users	26	3.8	1.04
79. Current models of support in the voluntary sector are more accessible than mainstream services	30	3.8	0.9
87. Service users are more trusting of voluntary sector mental health projects than they are of mainstream services	29	3.8	0.77
93. There is too much emphasis on diagnosing people in mainstream services	29	3.8	1.06
89. Current models of support in the voluntary sector offer more choice to service users than mainstream services	28	3.75	0.59
65. Current models of support in the voluntary sector build the self esteem of people with mental health needs	28	3.7	1.04
67. Current models of support in the voluntary sector give hope to people with mental health needs	28	3.7	0.91
68. Current models of support in the voluntary sector improve the quality of life for people with mental health needs	29	3.7	0.97
76. Current models of support in the voluntary sector increase opportunities to physical activities which promote well-being	28	3.7	0.76
64. Current models of support in the voluntary sector reduce isolation amongst people with mental health needs	28	3.6	0.91
73. Current models of support in the voluntary sector help people to take up educational opportunities	25	3.6	0.81
80. Voluntary sector mental projects work effectively with service users that the statutory services find "hard-to-engage"	28	3.6	1.29
83. The voluntary sector provides low threshold services which helps to identify need	26	3.6	0.69
98. The current CPA process is ineffective	27	3.6	0.88
78. Current models of support in the voluntary sector work in a holistic way	26	3.5	1.1
86. Voluntary sector workers are less judgemental than staff in mainstream services about people with mental health needs	27	3.5	0.8
90. The Expert Patients Programme "Looking after me" for carers is an effective model which helps carers to manage	27	3.5	0.8
94. There is too much emphasis on risk assessment in mainstream services	29	3.5	0.94
82. Voluntary sector projects increase access to their services through provision of crèches where women feel safe to leave their children	27	3.4	0.69

71. Current models of support in the voluntary sector help people to return to work or maintain their employment	28	3.3	0.82
81. Voluntary sector projects increase access to their services through provision of transport for those unable to travel on their own	26	3.2	0.63
Section 4: Representation and involvement			
106. Users need to be encouraged more to be experts on their own lives	30	4.5	0.64
100. The mental health forum provides a useful way of sharing information and liaising within the voluntary sector	30	4.1	0.64
103. Statutory sector staff would benefit from training from voluntary sector providers and service users in how to make their services more accessible to users	30	4.1	0.92
104. There is a need for a user forum to provide representatives to all relevant voluntary sector management committees	30	4.1	0.94
105. Provision of transport would enable more users to be involved and represented (e.g. at the LIVE session)	29	4.1	0.58
102. Voluntary sector workers would benefit from training in how to represent their organisations	27	3.8	1.09
108. There is a need for a dedicated worker to represent all mental health voluntary sector projects with commissioners	26	3.8	0.78
99. Small voluntary sector groups lack the capacity to get fully involved in order to ensure representation	27	3.7	1.17
101. Carer's voice training is an effective model for promoting involvement	24	3.6	0.77
107. The Expert Patient Programme "Living Well" is a valuable model to promote involvement for service users	27	3.6	1.31
Section 5: Capacity building and infrastructure support			1
129. Short term funding makes it difficult to plan and develop services	29	4.6	0.53
113. There is a need for further development of partnership working between voluntary sector mental health projects	30	4.4	0.49
114. There is a need for more partnership working between the voluntary sector and the statutory sector	29	4.4	0.62
128. There is a need to find funding streams for projects where there are ongoing needs	31	4.4	0.57
121. Collaborative working would lead to better co-ordination of services	30	4.3	0.56
125. Voluntary sector organisations could skill share (e.g. provide each other with specialist training for their volunteers)	31	4.3	0.59
127. Voluntary sector projects need to use the full cost recovery model when putting in tenders or funding bids (i.e. making sure that all the management, development and hidden costs are covered)	30	4.3	0.66
131. There is a need for an independent service to help all community and voluntary sector organisations to complete funding applications	28	4.3	0.65
132. There is a need to find ways of sharing information across the sector which would support funding bids (e.g. keeping up to date with relevant policy and strategic developments and gathering evidence	31	4.3	0.59

about what works and identifying potential funding sources)			
116. The voluntary sector is more flexible than the statutory sector and therefore more able to respond to user demand	31	4.2	0.73
120. Partnership working would reduce isolation amongst small organisations	31	4.2	0.48
123. Voluntary sector organisations should share human resources by for instance building a database of freelance providers who are tried and trusted to help with accounts or fund-raising	30	4.2	0.62
126. Voluntary sector mental health projects need more information about how to form partnerships where the costs of resources are shared	28	4.2	0.63
130. Voluntary sector agencies need to build consortia in order to be able to put in joint bids to provide services	29	4.2	0.71
133. Social enterprises need to be developed to bring in sustainable funding (i.e. ways of generating income within the aims and ethos of existing projects)	31	4.2	0.65
138. Voluntary sector workers need more training about specialist mental health needs	29	4.2	0.86
119. Partnership working would lead to less duplication	30	4.1	0.79
134. Voluntary sector mental health projects need more information about social enterprise	29	4.1	0.69
112. The diversity of mental health projects is a strength of the sector	29	4	0.72
115. Voluntary sector projects should be able to take on a care co- ordinator role so they can re-refer to community mental health teams when service users relapse	30	4	0.98
117. The voluntary sector is more able to innovate than the statutory sector	30	4	0.85
118. The voluntary sector is more able to engage with communities than the statutory sector	30	4	0.81
135. Voluntary sector mental health projects need development work in order to help them compete on a business model	30	4	0.79
139. The mental health network needs to identify which organisations would be able to take on, or develop, infrastructure support for the sector	30	4	0.74
110. A communal diary across the voluntary sector would help to improve networking and communication	30	3.9	0.83
124. Voluntary sector organisations with similar aims or client groups should form partnerships so they can reduce their administrative burden (e.g. by having only one management committee, and sharing finance workers)	29	3.9	0.82
136. The voluntary sector need to share a contracts expert who could advise and train smaller organisations competing for bigger contracts	29	3.9	0.7
122. Voluntary sector organisations should share buildings so they can reduce costs such as reception staff, crèche facilities, and equipment	29	3.8	0.85
137. Voluntary sector workers need more training about governance of their organisations (i.e. management of their organisation)	28	3.7	0.86

109. There are good networks between voluntary sector organisations allowing signposting and referrals to be made	24	3.4	0.83
111. There is good partnership working between voluntary sector mental health projects	26	3.4	0.7

A mean score of 4 or greater indicates overall agreement within the panel on a particular item. A score between 3 and 4 indicated that the panel were between neutral and in agreement. All the mean scores for all 139 items are greater than 3 indicating agreement or neutrality (i.e. none of the mean scores indicated disagreement within the panel about any of each other's opinions). 2/3rds of the items showed overall agreement and 1/3rd of the items indicated that the panel was between neutral and in agreement.

The standard deviations for each item were also calculated – this measure shows how much variation there is within the panel and therefore indicated the level of consensus or shared opinion.

A standard deviation of 1 or less indicates that the panel have a strong consensus i.e. most of them are close of the overall average score. A standard deviation of more than 1 indicates there is a wide range of opinion, and therefore a low consensus, within the panel. The means and standard deviations are shown in Table 2. It can be seen from this that only 120 out of 129 items had a standard deviation less than 1 (94%). This means that the panel agreed with each other and had a very high level of consensus amongst them.

4.1 Needs and gaps in services

A large number of needs and gaps in current services were identified as well as needs to continue to provide services for specific communities. It was felt that the statutory services' responses to people in crisis was poor and that training was needed. It was agreed that there was a need for better access to, and more of the following:

- Crisis services
- Out of hours services
- Drop-in services
- Day services
- Supported housing
- Respite services
- Holidays, social and leisure activities for people with long tem mental health needs
- Talking treatments
- Accompaniment and transport
- Alternative therapies

- More alternatives to drug treatments as a first option in mainstream services
- Community support workers
- Support, time and recovery workers
- Low threshold preventative services
- Support at home
- Learning and work advice
- Support in employment or education
- Support for young people and their families
- Preventative work re bullying in schools
- Bilingual interpreters
- Welfare advice

It was agreed that existing information and advocacy services are over-stretched and there is a need for neighbourhood based services for people who are too unwell to travel. The idea of a one-stop shop for information, advocacy and advice was also supported.

It was also agreed that there is a need for separate services, or more support, for the following specific groups:

- Black and minority ethnic communities
- Refugees and people who have suffered trauma
- Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people
- Older people
- Women
- Men who have experiences abuse
- Carers
- People with a dual diagnosis
- People diagnosed with Personality Disorder

It was also agreed that more preventative work could be done to raise public awareness about mental health and dispel myths (e.g. in relation to transgender people). Another point was that the police station is not a suitable place of safety

4.2 Benefits of existing voluntary sector provision

The interviews and focus groups with service users showed that service users were more trusting of the voluntary sector and found it more accessible than statutory sector services. They felt that existing voluntary sector mental health projects led to important outcomes such as:

- Giving hope
- Increases in self esteem

- Building confidence
- Developing friendship and support networks
- Building a sense of community
- Improved well-being
- Improved quality of life.

There was a strong view expressed that returning to paid work was not always a realistic outcome but that voluntary work was an important opportunity giving structure and meaning to people's lives. Voluntary sector services were also seen to be more empowering for service users and seen to have a preventative effect for people vulnerable to relapse.

Overall, it was agreed that the sector works in a preventative way, promoting recovery, reducing relapse and hospital admissions. The diversity of the sector was seen as a strength offering people choice and the sector was seen a being more able to engage with communities than the statutory sector. There was an agreement that further partnership working with the statutory sector was desirable. This could include taking on a care-coordinator role or providing integrated services where people can access primary and community care alongside self help and user led activities.

4.3 Representation and Involvement

There was agreement that a number of current initiatives support user involvement; these were the Expert Patient Programme; Carer's Voice training and the LIVE sessions although transport would increase participation. It was also agreed that statutory services would benefit from training from service users and voluntary sector providers to make statutory services more accessible. It was also felt that user involvement within the voluntary sector could also be improved with an identified need for a user forum to provide representatives to all relevant voluntary sector management committees.

4.4 Future ways of working and capacity building within the sector

There was a high level of agreement and consensus within the panel that the sector needed to find ways of working together more in partnership to tender to provide services or to obtain funding. It was felt this would lead to less duplication and allow knowledge, expertise and resources to be shared. It was agreed that more information was needed about how to develop partnerships and share costs of resources suggesting the need for capacity building and/or infrastructure support in this area. The idea of developing social enterprises was also supported but again developmental needs were identified in order for this to happen. It is worth noting that very few participants mentioned social enterprise, or sharing backroom resources in the first round of the Delphi survey but once their attention was drawn to it in the second round a high level of interest was registered. It was also noted by the local Change Up consortium that local mental

health projects had not been involved in the development of a local plan. This suggests that there is a low level of awareness about the Change Up initiative and that capacity building opportunities in relation to this would be useful for the mental health network, The mental health network was seen as a good way of sharing information but it was also agreed that there was a need to identify organisations able to take on an infrastructure role for local mental health voluntary sector projects.

5. Discussion

The consultation and Delphi survey showed a high level of agreement and consensus within the voluntary sector, and amongst other stakeholders, about mental health needs and provision. It also identified agreement and consensus about developmental needs which would enable the sector to work together to build capacity in order to provide some of these services in a sustainable way. The Working Group of the Mental Health Network will develop an action plan to progress the developmental needs identified in this report.

6. References

- Bowling, A. (2002) Research methods in health: Investigating health and health services, Open University Press, Buckingham.
- Brighton and Hove Change Up Consortium (December 2005) Draft local infrastructure development plan.

http://www.cvsectorforum.org.uk/infrastructure/revised_IDP_19_Dec.doc Carers Centre (2005) Report on the results of the CRHTT questionnaire.

- Community and Voluntary Sector Forum; A C and V sector Mental Health Strategy for Brighton and Hove; Workshop 2 - report from the quarterly conference held on March 2nd 2005.
- Hasson, F., Keeney, S. and McKenna, H. (2000) *Research guidelines for the Delphi survey technique*, Journal of Advanced Nursing, **32**, 1008-1-15.
- Keeney, S., Hasson, F. and McKenna, H. (2006) *Consulting the oracle: ten lessons from using the Delphi technique in nursing research*, Journal of Advanced Nursing, 205-212.
- Linstone, H. A. and Turoff, M. (2002), Vol. 2006. http://www.is.njit.edu/pubs/delphibook/index.html#toc
- Oranga, H. M. and Nordberg, E. (1996) Participatory community-based health information systems for rural communities, In *Participatory research in health: issues and experiences* (Eds, De Koning, K. and Martin, M.) Zed Books, London.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002) *Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods,* Sage, London.
- Powell, C. (2003) *The Delphi technique: myths and realities*, Journal of Advanced Nursing, **41**, 376-382.

- Proctor, S. (1995) The contribution of inductive and deductive theory to the development of practitioner knowledge, In *Practitioner research in health care: the inside story* (Eds, Reed, J. and Proctor, S.) Chapman and Hall, London.
- White, E. (1991) *The future of psychiatric nursing by the year 2000: a Delphi study,* University of Manchester, Department of Nursing, Manchester.

Developing a Mental Health Strategy for the CVS in Brighton and Hove

Delphi Survey Round One

You are invited to take place in this survey in order to help the local community and voluntary sector state and develop its shared vision in relation to mental health. This will strengthen the collective voice of the CVS when campaigning for better services, when tendering to provide services and when representing the interests of service users. It is important that we identify the CVS' views on local needs and priorities and the contribution that the CVS can make in relation to meeting needs and setting priorities.

You are part of a panel of experts who have an interest in mental health and who represent the CVS. You will be invited to participate in two further rounds of this survey – in the second and third rounds you will get some feedback about the opinions of the rest of the panel and will be invited to indicate to what extent you agree with the opinions of the rest of the panel. The responses of each member of the panel will be anonymous so you will all know what other people have said but not who said it. Please complete this questionnaire and **return it by February 20th** to <u>h.platzer@brighton.ac.uk</u>. If you are unable to e-mail your response please post it to Duncan Blinkhorn, Brighton & Hove Community & Voluntary Sector Forum (CVSF) Community Base, 113 Queens Road, Brighton BN1 3XG. This piece of work is being conducted by the CVSF Mental Health Network and the University of Brighton and we hope to complete it by the end of March 2006.

Section 1: About you (your responses to this survey will be anonymous)

Your name:	
Your group or organisation (if any):	
Please state in what capacity you are	
participating in this survey (e.g. a service	
user; carer, volunteer, voluntary sector paid	
worker; statutory sector paid worker etc)	
If you have been given this survey by	
another member of the panel please	
indicate who gave it to you.	

Section 2: Needs and gaps in services

Question 1: What kinds of support and services do you think are lacking in Brighton and Hove in relation to mental health?

Question 2: Which of these gaps do you think could be filled by the voluntary sector in terms of providing those services?

Question 3: Which of these gaps do you think the voluntary sector should be involved in by campaigning for better services from the statutory sector?

Question 4: Please identify which groups of people locally are particularly vulnerable in relation to their mental health?

Question 5: Which of these vulnerable groups (identified in question 4) does the voluntary sector have a role in supporting?

Section 2: Models of providing support

Question 6: In what ways does the voluntary sector make its services accessible to people with mental health problems?

Question 7: What do you think are the benefits of existing voluntary sector provision to people in relation to their mental health?

Question 8: How does the voluntary sector work differently with people in relation to their mental health compared to the way the statutory sector services work?

Question 9: What do you think are realistic outcomes against which we should measure the success of voluntary sector support in relation to people's mental health?

Section 3: Representation and involvement

Question 10: Do you think the voluntary sector is adequately represented with statutory agencies in terms of developing local strategies in relation to mental health? If not, please indicate how you think this could be improved.

Question 11: Do you think that service users are adequately represented with statutory agencies in terms of developing local strategies in relation to mental health? If not, please indicate how you think this could be improved.

Question 12: What priorities do you think should be set in relation to meeting local mental health needs?

Section 4: Capacity building and infrastructure support

Question 13: What makes it difficult for the voluntary sector in terms of obtaining funding to provide services?

Question 14: If there was additional funding for new roles or structures, what would make it possible for the voluntary sector to compete more effectively to provide services?

Section 5: Other Comments

Question 15: Do you wish to make any further comments about how you think the CVS can state and develop its vision in relation to mental health?

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this survey – you will receive feedback about the panel's responses and will be invited to comment again. Please feel free to pass copies of this survey to anyone who has an interest who has not already been invited to participate. If you need any further information you can contact Hazel Platzer on 01273-297597.

Developing a Mental Health Strategy for the Community and Voluntary Sector in Brighton and Hove

Delphi Survey Round Two

You are invited to take place in this second round of a survey in order to help the local community and voluntary sector (CVS) state and develop its shared vision in relation to mental health, and to help develop a voluntary sector mental health strategy. This will strengthen the collective voice of the CVS when campaigning for better services, when tendering to provide services and when representing the interests of service users. It is important that we identify your views on local needs and priorities and the contribution that the CVS can make in relation to meeting those needs and setting priorities.

You are part of a panel of about 60 "experts" who have an interest in mental health and who represent the local CVS. This second round of the survey combines everyone's responses from the first round so you are now getting to see everyone else's opinions – the first round included carers, service users, volunteers and paid workers from the community and voluntary sector. In this second round you are asked to indicate how much you agree with each other; you can do this by ticking the appropriate box after each statement if you are completing it by hand. If you have received a copy by e-mail you can click on the box with your mouse to put in a cross (if you make a mistake click on the box again and the cross will be removed). **If you are not sure about a particular item or don't have an opinion please leave it blank.** After each section you can add any further comments if you wish to.

The responses of each member of the panel will be anonymous so you will all know what other people have said but not who said it. After this second round the survey will be written up and it will show how much agreement there is amongst the panel.

You will have an opportunity to complete this questionnaire at the CVSF **quarterly meeting on March 8th** – we are e-mailing this out as well so if you are unable to come on March 8th please can you return this survey by **Tuesday 14th March** to <u>h.platzer@brighton.ac.uk</u>. If you are unable to e-mail your response please post it to Duncan Blinkhorn, Brighton & Hove Community & Voluntary Sector Forum (CVSF), Community Base, 113 Queens Road, Brighton BN1 3XG.

This piece of work is being conducted by the CVSF Mental Health Network and the University of Brighton and we hope to complete it by the end of March 2006. We think that **it will take you about half an hour to complete** this round of the survey and very much hope that you will be able to participate. **You may copy this survey to other people who wish to participate**.







Section 1: About you (your responses to this survey will be anonymous)

Your name:	
Your group or organisation (if any):	
Please state in what capacity you are	
participating in this survey (e.g. a service	
user; carer, volunteer, voluntary sector paid	
worker; statutory sector paid worker etc)	
If you have been given this survey by	
another member of the panel please	
indicate who gave it to you.	
Did you complete the first round of this	
survey?	

Section 2: Needs and gaps in services

		out of hours c to-face support		the evenings
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	_		_	agree
2. There is a n	eed for more te	lephone suppo	rt out of hours	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
	-	houses for pe	-	ot need to go
into hospital b	out are too unwo	ell to s <u>tay</u> at ho	me	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
4. There are in	sufficient hosp	ital beds when	people need a	dmission
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
5. There is a la	ick of crisis ho	using or comm	unity wards	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree

C Thora is a la		d h a u a in a		
6. There is a la	ack of supporte	a nousing		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
v				Ŭ
7 Thoro aro in	sufficient respi	to sorvicos		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
8. There is a n	eed for a "gate-	keepina" servi	ce so that peo	ple can
	liate crisis supp			
mainstream se	ervices			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
¥				v
9 Out of hour	s support shou	ld link voluntar	v and mainstre	am services
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
10. There is a	need for more o	drop-in services	s including the	se for specific
	omen only, LGB			
		•/		
Ctrongly				Ctronalı (
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
11. There is a	need for out of	hours drop-in s	services	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral		Strongly
	Disagree	neuliai	Agree	
disagree				agree
12. There is a	need for day ca	re where place	s are by referra	al as not all
service users	are able to acce	ess drop-in ses	sions	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
•••	Disayiee	inculial	Agree	Subligiy
diagaraa	8			0.0700
disagree	5			agree
¥				agree
¥		re 7 days a we	ek	agree
¥	need for day ca	re 7 days a wee	ek	agree
13. There is a	need for day ca			
v		re 7 days a wee	ek D Agree	agree

	n unmet need fo ng term mental		ial and leisure	activities for
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
alougioo				ugroo
	need for suppo es (i.e. to be acc			pointment and
Strongly		Neutral		Strongly
Strongly	Disagree	neullai	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
		-		
16. There is a support	need for more p	preventative se	rvices which o	ffer low level
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	J		0	agree
17 Thore is a	need for shorte	r waiting times	to access talk	ina
treatments/co				
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
18. There is a	lack of access t	o alternative th	erapies	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
•••	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	•••
disagree				agree
19. There is a	need for a spec	ialised service	for people who	o have
experienced a	trauma			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree			5	agree
dibugibb				ugioo
20. There is ar	n unmet need fo	or services whe	re people will I	be listened to
in mainstream	services			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree			-3	agree
aloagioo				49100
21. There is a	need for more o	community sup	port workers	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
	Disayiee	inculat	Ayıce	•••
disagree				agree

	not enough STF very and help p	• • •		orkers to
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
23. There are	not enough sur	vivor managed	services	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
•••	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	•••
disagree				agree
	ple in need are u	unable to acces	s support fron	n Community
Psychiatric Nu	urses			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	Ū		0	agree
25 The criteri	a which enable	neonle to be al	le to access s	upport at
home need to		people to be at		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
26. There is a	need for learnir	ng and work ad	visors to help	people get
	need for learnir	-		
back into emp	oloyment or train	-		
	oloyment or train	-		
back into emp ongoing supp	oloyment or train ort	ning after a per	iod of illness, a	and to offer
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly	oloyment or train	-		and to offer
back into emp ongoing supp	oloyment or train ort	ning after a per	iod of illness, a	and to offer
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly	oloyment or train ort	ning after a per	iod of illness, a	and to offer
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree	oloyment or train ort	ning after a per	iod of illness, a	and to offer
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree	bloyment or train ort Disagree	ning after a per	iod of illness, a	and to offer
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a	bloyment or train ort	ning after a per	iod of illness, a	and to offer
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital	Disagree	ning after a per	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at	And to offer Strongly agree Millview
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly	bloyment or train ort	ning after a per	iod of illness, a	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital	Disagree	ning after a per	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at	And to offer Strongly agree Millview
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree	Disagree	ning after a per	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a	Disagree	ning after a per Neutral	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a	Disagree	ning after a per Neutral	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a	Disagree	ning after a per Neutral	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a employment the	Disagree	ning after a per Neutral	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree people keep tl	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree neir
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a employment the Strongly	Disagree	ning after a per	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree neir Strongly
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a employment the	Disagree Dis	ning after a per	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree people keep tl	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree neir
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a employment the Strongly disagree	Disagree Disagree need for a spec Disagree need for more s hrough a period Disagree	ning after a per	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree people keep tl Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree neir Strongly agree
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a employment the Strongly disagree 29. Employers	Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree need for more s hrough a period Disagree S need to be ma	ning after a per IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree people keep tl Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree neir Strongly agree
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a employment the Strongly disagree 29. Employers	Disagree Disagree need for a spec Disagree need for more s hrough a period Disagree	ning after a per IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree people keep tl Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree neir Strongly agree
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a employment the Strongly disagree 29. Employers people with m	bloyment or train bort Disagree need for a spect Disagree need for more s hrough a period Disagree S need to be mate be material health pro-	ning after a per Ining after a	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree people keep tl Agree about the sup	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree neir Strongly agree port needs of
back into emp ongoing supp Strongly disagree 27. There is a Hospital Strongly disagree 28. There is a employment the Strongly disagree 29. Employers	Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree need for more s hrough a period Disagree S need to be ma	ning after a per IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	iod of illness, a Agree ent advisor at Agree people keep tl Agree	And to offer Strongly agree Millview Strongly agree neir Strongly agree

	providers need le with mental l			It the support
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree	Neuliai	Ayree	0,
disagree				agree
	need for more a hrough schools			• • •
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	5		5	agree
g				
	need for more p nophobic bully		ork in schools e	especially in
Strongly		Neutral		Strongly
Strongly	Disagree	neutrai	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
33. There is a with mental he	need for more k ealth needs	bilingual interp	reters to work	with people
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree			.9.55	agree
aloagioo				agree
	need for a com			
Strongly		Neutral		Strongly
Strongly	Disagree	neutrai	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
35. There is a	need for langua	nge specific sel	f help groups	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	-		-	agree
v				Ŭ
36. There are i	insufficient serv	vices for refuge	es with mental	health needs
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
37. Carers nee	ed more informa	ation about mer	ntal health and	treatments
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree			, 19:00	agree
alsayiee				ayiee

38 Current ad	vice and inform	ation services	are over-subs	cribed to meet
current demar		ation services		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	0		0	agree
39. Carers nee	ed more support	t at the start of	their role	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	C C		U	agree
Ŭ				0
40. Young car	ers need more s	support		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	C C		U	agree
Ŭ				0
41. There is ar	n unmet need fo	r advocacy for	carers	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree			5	agree
0.00.9.00				.9.00
42. Existing ad	dvocacy service	s are over-stre	tched	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree			5	agree
43. The public	need to be mad	de more aware	about mental h	nealth issues
•	order to reduce t			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
	need to educate	• •	•	transgender
people and me	ental illness alw	ays go togethe	er	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
				agree
disagree				
disagree				
45. Greater aw	vareness about		vould enable e	arlier
45. Greater aw	vareness about vork to take plac		vould enable e	arlier
45. Greater aw preventative w	vork to take plac			
45. Greater aw			vould enable e	arlier Strongly agree

	need for more s	support for fam	ilies who are a	ffected by
mental health	issues			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
47. There are	insufficient serv	vices for people	e with a dual di	agnosis
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	Ũ		U	agree
U				U
48 There are	insufficient serv	vices for neonle	with a diagno	sis of
personality di				
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	•••
uisayiee				agree
10 Thomasia	o ototion is not		of opfoty	
	e station is not a			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
50. There is a	n unmet need fo	or specialist am	bulances for p	eople in crisis
	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
Stronalv			J	
Strongly disagree	Diougroo			agree
Strongly disagree				agree
disagree		udvice about we	elfare benefits	agree
disagree	need for more a	ndvice about we	elfare benefits	agree
disagree	need for more a			
disagree 51. There is a Strongly		advice about we	elfare benefits	Strongly
disagree	need for more a			
disagree 51. There is a Strongly disagree	need for more a	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a	need for more a	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a housing	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s advocacy and ad	Neutral stop shop when lvice about ben	Agree re people can a nefits, legal iss	Strongly agree access ues and Strongly
disagree 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a housing Strongly	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s advocacy and ad	Neutral stop shop when lvice about ben	Agree re people can a nefits, legal iss	Strongly agree access ues and
disagree 51. There is a 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a housing Strongly disagree	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s dvocacy and ad Disagree	Neutral stop shop when lvice about ben Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree access ues and Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a housing Strongly disagree	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s advocacy and ad	Neutral stop shop when lvice about ben Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree access ues and Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a housing Strongly disagree 53. There is a	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s dvocacy and ad Disagree lack of services	Neutral stop shop when lvice about ben Neutral for younger pe	Agree re people can a befits, legal iss Agree Agree eople with dem	Strongly agree access ues and Strongly agree
disagree 51. There is a 51. There is a Strongly disagree 52. There is a information, a housing Strongly disagree	need for more a Disagree need for a one-s dvocacy and ad Disagree	Neutral stop shop when lvice about ben Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree access ues and Strongly agree

54. Older peop mental health	le need opport	unities for soci	al interaction w	which promote
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
55. There is a when they are	need for local s under stress	ervices so that	people do not	have to travel
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
they can acces	need for vulnera ss an integrated jside self help a	l service i.e. pri	imary and com	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
	need for statuto pecific local neo nity		-	-
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
	ongoing need GBT communiti		cific communit	y based
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
59. There is a	need for womer	n only services		
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
60. Men have s sexual abuse)	specific needs v	which get negle	ected (e.g. surv	ivors of
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
	need for specifi c communities	c community b	ased support f	or Black and
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree

62. Statutory s better to servi	service provide ce users prese	rs need training nting in crisis	to enable the	m to respond
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
Comments ab	out items in Se	ction 2		
L				

Section 3: Models of providing support to service users and carers

63. Self care needs to be promoted					
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	
64. Current m	odels of suppor	t in the volunta	ry sector redu	ce isolation	
amongst peop	ole with mental l	health needs			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	

	odels of supportion of supportion of support of the second s		ary sector build	the self
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
66. Current m	odels of suppo people with me			~
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
	odels of suppo lental health ne		ary sector give	hope to
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
	odels of suppo	rt in the volunt	arv sactor impr	
	for people with		•	ove the
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
	odels of suppor le who use the Disagree		Ary sector impro	ove the well
disagree	21009100		, igi e e	agree
70. Current m for service us	odels of suppo ers	rt in the volunta	ary sector are e	mpowering
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
	odels of support or maintain the			people to
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	Diougroo	Hould	, (9) 00	agree
72. Returning	to work or ente	ering paid emple	oyment is not a	realistic
target for all s				_
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree

	odels of suppor tional opportun	t in the volunta lities	ry sector help	people to
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	Dibagioo	Noutrai	/ igi oo	•••
uisagiee				agree
74 Current m			with a section offer	
	odels of suppor work w <u>hi</u> ch buil		iry sector offer	opportunities
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	0		Ũ	agree
75 Current mo	odels of suppor	t in the volunta	ry sector incre	250
	to socialise and		•	430
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
dibugico				ugico
76 Current m				
	odels of suppor to physical acti			
Strongly				Strongly
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
77. Voluntary structure and	sector mental h purpose	ealth projects	give service us	ers a sense of
-		ealth projects (give service us	ers a sense of
-		ealth projects (give service us	ers a sense of
structure and Strongly	purpose			Strongly
structure and	purpose			
structure and Strongly disagree	purpose	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
Strongly disagree 78. Current me	purpose	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
Strongly disagree 78. Current mo way	purpose Disagree odels of suppor	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly	purpose	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic
Strongly disagree 78. Current mo way	purpose Disagree odels of suppor	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me	purpose Disagree odels of suppor Disagree	Neutral t in the volunta Neutral t in the volunta	Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me	purpose Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree	Neutral t in the volunta Neutral t in the volunta	Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me accessible that	purpose Disagree odels of suppor Disagree odels of suppor in mainstream s	Neutral Neutral Neutral Neutral Neutral Neutral T in the volunta Services	Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me	purpose Disagree odels of suppor Disagree	Neutral t in the volunta Neutral t in the volunta	Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me accessible that	purpose Disagree odels of suppor Disagree odels of suppor in mainstream s	Neutral Neutral Neutral Neutral Neutral T in the volunta Services	Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me accessible that Strongly Strongly	purpose Disagree odels of suppor Disagree odels of suppor in mainstream s	Neutral Neutral Neutral Neutral Neutral T in the volunta Services	Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree hore
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me accessible that Strongly disagree 80. Voluntary structure	purpose Disagree	Neutral	Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree hore
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me accessible that Strongly disagree 80. Voluntary	purpose Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree Disagree	Neutral	Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree hore
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me accessible that Strongly disagree 80. Voluntary	purpose Disagree	Neutral	Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree hore
structure and Strongly disagree 78. Current me way Strongly disagree 79. Current me accessible that Strongly disagree 80. Voluntary	purpose Disagree	Neutral	Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree Agree	Strongly agree in a holistic Strongly agree hore

-	• •	increase acces se unable to tra		-	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	
-		increase acces omen feel safe		-	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	
83. The volunta identify need	ary sector prov	ides low thresh	old services w	hich helps to	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	
	odels of suppor rs than mainstr	t in the volunta eam services	ry sector feel l	ess punitive	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	
		f "them and us' tream provisio	-	ector	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	
		are less judger eople with men			
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	
	87. Service users are more trusting of voluntary sector mental health projects than they are of mainstream services				
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	
	ay preventing	t in the volunta relapse, promo	•		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree	

	odels of suppor		ry sector offer	more choice
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
alougioo				ugroo
00 The Expert	t Patients Prog	amma "Lookin	a ofter me" for	carore is an
	el which helps of			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
91. Current me involvement	odels of suppor	t in the volunta	ry sector enco	ourage user
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	3		5	agree
unca.g. e e				
92 There coul	ld be more user	involvement w	vithin montal h	alth projects
within the volu				
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
				0
93. There is to services	o much empha	sis on diagnosi	ing people in n	nainstream
Strongly	Disparoo	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
•••	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	•••
disagree				agree
94. There is to services	o much empha	sis on risk asse	essment in mai	instream
\square				
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	••
uisayiee				agree
	ds to be more c el rather than th			s based on the
Strongly		Neutral		Strongly
Strongly	Disagree	ineulial	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
			-	
96. More use o	of advance dire	ctives <u>sh</u> ould b	e made	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree

97. There needs to be more alternatives to drug treatments as a first option from mainstream services					
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	
98. The currer	nt CPA process	is ineffective			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	
Γ					
Comments ab	out items in sec	ction 3			

Section 4: Representation and involvement

99. Small voluntary sector groups lack the capacity to get fully involved in order to ensure representation					
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	
100. The ment	tal health netwo	rk provides a u	seful way of s	haring	
information a	nd liaising withi	n the voluntary	sector	_	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	

	oice training is	an effective mo	del for promot	ing	
involvement					
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree	-		-	agree	
Ŭ				<u> </u>	
102. Voluntary sector workers would benefit from training in how to					
	r organisations		nom namng i		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	
103. Statutory	sector staff wo	uld benefit from	n training from	voluntary	
	ers and service				
accessible to					
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
0,	Disagree	Noutrai	Agree	• •	
disagree				agree	
		•			
	a need for a use	•	•	tives to all	
relevant volun	itary sector man	nagement comr	nittees		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	
ulougice				ugree	
105 Dravision	of transport w	ould onchio mo	re ucere te be	involved and	
	of transport w		re users to be	involved and	
represented (e	e.g. at the LIVE	session)			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	
¥				•	
106. Users ne	ed to be encour	aged more to b	e experts on th	neir own lives	
Strongly		Neutral		Strongly	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree				agree	
107. The Expe	rt Patient Progr	amme "Living	Well" is a valu	able model to	
promote invol	vement for serv	vice users			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree	2.009.00		, igi 00	agree	
usayiee				ayıcc	
400 TI		l'ante de la combre de			
	a need for a ded		•	mental	
health volunta	ry sector proje	cts with commi	ssioners		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly	
disagree	~		~	agree	

Comments about items in section 4

Section 5: Capacity building and infrastructure support

109. There are good networks between voluntary sector organisations allowing signposting and referrals to be made						
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly		
disagree	0		U	agree		
110. A communal diary across the voluntary sector would help to						
Improve netwo	improve networking and communication					
			, LI			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly		
disagree				agree		
_	jood partnershi	p working betw	veen voluntary	sector mental		
health projects	s					
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly		
disagree				agree		
112. The diver	sity of mental h	ealth projects i	is a strength of	the sector		
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly		
disagree				agree		
113. There is a	need for furth	er development	of partnership			
	need for furthe ntary sector me	•				
		•				
		•				

	need for more statutory sector		orking between	the voluntary
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
	sector projects so they can re- users relapse			
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
	ntary sector is n e able to respor			y sector and
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
117. The volur sector	itary sector is n	nore able to inn	ovate than the	statutory
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
118. The volur the statutory s	ntary sector is n	nore able to eng	gage with com	munities than
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
119. Partnersh	ip working wou	Id lead to less	duplication	
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
120. Partnersh organisations	ip working wou	Ild reduce isola	ation amongst	small
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
121. Collabora	tive working wo	ould lead to bet	tter co-ordinati	on of services
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree

122. Voluntary sector organisations should share buildings so they can reduce costs such as reception staff, crèche facilities, and equipment Strongly Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly disagree agree 123. Voluntary sector organisations should share human resources by for instance building a database of freelance providers who are tried and trusted to help with accounts or fund-raising Strongly Disagree Neutral Strongly Agree disagree agree 124. Voluntary sector organisations with similar aims or client groups should form partnerships so they can reduce their administrative burden (e.g. by having only one management committee, and sharing finance workers) Strongly Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly disagree agree 125. Voluntary sector organisations could skill share (e.g. provide each other with specialist training for their volunteers) Strongly Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly disagree agree 126. Voluntary sector mental health projects need more information about how to form partnerships where the costs of resources are shared Strongly Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly disagree agree 127. Voluntary sector projects need to use the full cost recovery model when putting in tenders or funding bids (i.e. making sure that all the management, development and hidden costs are covered) Strongly Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly disagree agree 128. There is a need to find funding streams for projects where there are ongoing needs Neutral Strongly Disagree Agree Strongly disagree agree

29. Short ter	m funding make	es it difficult to	plan and devel	op services
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
30 Voluntary	y sector agencie	s need to build	l consortia in c	order to be
-	joint bids to pro			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
	a need for an inc			
nd voluntary	sector organisa	ations to compl	ete funding ap	plications
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	L Strongly
disagree	Disagree	Neutral	/ gree	agree
elevant polic	y and strategic o orks and identify	-		
elevant polic bout what we Strongly		-		s)
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree	orks and identify	ying potential f	unding source	s) Strongly agree
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. w	Disagree	ving potential for Neutral	Agree	s) Strongly agree Istainable
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje	orks and identify Disagree Iterprises need to vays of generation octs)	ving potential for Neutral	Agree A to bring in su	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje	Disagree	ving potential for Neutral	Agree	s) Strongly agree ustainable d ethos of Strongly
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje	orks and identify Disagree Iterprises need to vays of generation octs)	ving potential for Neutral	Agree A to bring in su	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje Strongly disagree 34. Voluntary	orks and identify Disagree terprises need to vays of generation cts) Disagree	ving potential for Neutral	Agree	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of Strongly agree
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje Strongly disagree 34. Voluntary	orks and identify Disagree terprises need to vays of generation cts) Disagree	ving potential for Neutral	Agree	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of Strongly agree
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje Strongly disagree 34. Voluntary	orks and identify Disagree terprises need to vays of generation cts) Disagree	ving potential for Neutral	Agree	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of Strongly agree
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje Strongly disagree 34. Voluntary bout social en	orks and identify Disagree terprises need to vays of generation cts) Disagree y sector mental enterprise	ving potential from the second	Agree Agree d to bring in su in the aims an Agree need more inf	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of Strongly agree formation
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje Strongly disagree 34. Voluntary bout social en Strongly disagree 35. Voluntary	orks and identify Disagree terprises need to vays of generation cts) Disagree y sector mental enterprise	ving potential for Neutral to be developed ng income with Neutral health projects Neutral	Agree Need more inf	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of Strongly agree Formation Strongly agree
elevant polic bout what we Strongly disagree 33. Social en unding (i.e. we existing proje Strongly disagree 34. Voluntary bout social en Strongly disagree 35. Voluntary	orks and identify Disagree iterprises need to vays of generation of the sector mental onterprise Disagree Disagree	ving potential for Neutral to be developed ng income with Neutral health projects Neutral	Agree Need more inf	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of Strongly agree Formation Strongly agree
bout what we strongly disagree	orks and identify Disagree iterprises need to vays of generation of the sector mental onterprise Disagree Disagree	ving potential for Neutral to be developed ng income with Neutral health projects Neutral	Agree Need more inf	s) Strongly agree Istainable d ethos of Strongly agree Formation Strongly agree

	ntary sector nee in smaller orga			
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
alougioo				agroo
	sector workers			overnance of
their organisat	<u>tions (i.e. mana</u>	gement of their	organisation)	
			, Ll	
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree				agree
138. Voluntary mental health	v sector workers	s need more tra	ining about sp	ecialist
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
disagree	Disagree	Neutrai	Agree	•••
uisagiee				agree
Sector Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
Comments ab	out items in sec	ction 5		

Section 6: Further Comments (please add anything else that you feel is important in terms of the local Community and Voluntary Sector's shared values and vision in relation to mental health)

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this survey – you will receive a copy of the results which will show how much agreement there is among you. This will help to make a statement about shared values and vision and it will help the CVS to set priorities. If you need any further information you can contact Hazel Platzer on 01273-297597.